
Please ask for:
Linda Coote
Direct dial:
(023) 9254 5340
Fax:
(023) 9254 5587
E-mail:
lisa.young@gosport.gov.uk

2 February 2021

S U M M O N S

MEETING: Community Board
DATE: 10 February 2021
TIME: 6.00 pm
PLACE: Virtual
Democratic Services contact: Linda Coote

PAUL GRANT
BOROUGH SOLICITOR

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Councillor Hook (ex-Officio)
Councillor Mrs Huggins (Mayor) and Councillor Raffaelli (Chairman)

Councillor Mrs Furlong (Vice-Chair)

Councillor Beavis
Councillor Blackman
Councillor Burgess
Councillor Carter
Councillor Casey
Councillor Earle
Councillor Farr

Councillor Hammond
Councillor Hutchison
Councillor Miss Kelly
Councillor Mrs Morgan
Councillor Pepper
Councillor Westerby

Public Document Pack



NOTE:

i. Councillors are requested to note that, if any Councillor who is not a Member of the Board 
wishes to speak at the Board meeting, then the Borough Solicitor is required to receive 
not less than 24 hours prior notice in writing or electronically and such notice shall 
indicate the agenda item or items on which the member wishes to speak. 

ii. Please note that mobile phones should be switched off or switched to silent for the duration 
of the meeting.

iii. This meeting may be filmed or otherwise recorded. By attending this meeting, you are 
consenting to any broadcast of your image and being recorded. 



Community Board
10 February 2021

AGENDA

1.  APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

All Members are required to disclose at this point in the meeting or 
as soon as possible thereafter, any disclosable pecuniary interest or 
personal interest in any item(s) being considered at this meeting.  

3.  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE COMMUNITY 
BOARD HELD ON 4TH NOVEMBER 2020 

4.  DEPUTATIONS  - STANDING ORDER 3.4  

(NOTE: The Board is required to receive a deputation(s) on a matter 
which is before the meeting of the Board provided that notice of the 
intended deputation and its object shall have been received by the 
Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Monday 8th February 2021  The 
total time for deputations in favour and against a proposal shall not 
exceed 10 minutes).

5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.5  

(NOTE: The Board is required to allow a total of 15 minutes for 
questions from Members of the public on matters within the terms of 
reference of the Board provided that notice of such Question(s) shall 
have been submitted to the Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Monday 
8th February 2021

6.  WASTE AND RECYCLING POLICY 

The purpose of this report is to advise the board of Hampshire 
County Council’s cessation of recycling credits and seek approval for 
an updated Waste and Recycling Collection Policy.

7.  MANOR WAY OPEN SPACE CONSULTATION 

To seek approval to carry out a public consultation regarding the 
proposed design for the open space at Manor Way, Lee-on-the-



Community Board
10 February 2021

Solent to provide a rest garden and allotments. To ascertain whether 
the design meets the expectations of the community.

8.  HARDWAY PSPO 

9.  ANY OTHER ITEMS 

10.  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  

10 Alverstoke and 
Forton Flood 
Defences 

THE REPORT CONTAINS
DETAILS OF THE
FINANCIAL AFFAIRS OF A
THIRD PARTY IF THIS
INFORMATION WAS MADE
PUBLIC IT MAY HAVE AN
ADVERSE IMPACT ON
THE CONTRACT.
THEREFORE THE PUBLIC
INTEREST IN
MAINTAINING THE
EXEMPTION OUTWEIGHS
THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN
DISCLOSING THE

Stevyn 
Ricketts

11.  ALVERSTOKE & FORTON FLOOD DEFENCES  

This report sets out background information for the Alverstoke and 
Forton coastal flood defence schemes. The schemes are currently at 
the construction works procurement stage. As part of this, an 
agreement decision is required to award the construction contract to 
the preferred bidder to enter the contract for the works. 



Community Board
4 November 2020

1

A MEETING OF THE COMMUNITY BOARD
WAS HELD ON 4 NOVEMBER 2020

 Councillor Hook

Councillors Beavis, Blackman, Burgess, Carter, Casey, Earle, Mrs Furlong, Hammond, 
Hutchison, Miss Kelly, Mrs Morgan, Pepper, Raffaelli and Westerby

47. APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE 

An apology for non attendance was received from Councillor Farr

48. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were none.

49. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE COMMUNITY BOARD HELD ON 
9TH SEPTEMBER 2020 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 9th September be signed as a true 
and correct record.

50. DEPUTATIONS  - STANDING ORDER 3.4 

There were none.

51. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.5 

There were none.

52. ANY OTHER ITEMS 

There were none.

53. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

RESOLVED: That in relation to the following item the public should be excluded from the 
meeting, as it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of 
the proceedings, that if members of the public were present during this item there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information within Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to 
the Local Government Act 1972, and further that in all circumstances of the cases, the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information, for the reasons set out in the report.

54. GROUNDS MAINTENANCE MACHINERY TENDER 

Consideration was given to a report by Head of Streetscene seeking approval by the Board 
that the report setting out the evaluation of tenders received for the Councils requirements 
for Ground Maintenance Machinery for the Streetscene Direct Services Organisation (DSO) 
be recommended to the Policy & Organisation Board.

Agenda Item 3



Community Board
4 November 2020

2

RESOLVED: That the Board recommends the report is taken to the Policy and Organisation 
Board.

CHAIRMAN

Concluded at 6.35 pm



Board/Committee: Community Board
Date of Meeting: 10th February 2021
Title: Waste and Recycling Policy
Author: Head of Streetscene
Status: FOR DECISION

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to advise the board of Hampshire County 
Council’s cessation of recycling credits and seek approval for an updated 
Waste and Recycling Collection Policy.

Recommendation

To approve the Waste and Recycling Policy as set out in appendix A. To grant 
delegated authority to the Head of Streetscene to issue notices under Section 
46 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

1 Background

1.1 

1.2

All waste authorities within Hampshire (collection and disposal); 
along with Veolia as Hampshire County Council’s prime waste 
disposal contractor, are members of the Project Integra (PI) 
Partnership. The partnership was established to deliver an integrated 
waste management service across the county and at the time placed 
Hampshire and its collection authorities at the head of waste and 
recycling activities nationally. However, performance and recycling 
rates have dropped and overall; no district in Hampshire is in the top 
half of the national league table for recycling. 

As part of Hampshire County Council’s Target 21 savings a number 
of proposals were made which included ceasing to subsidise or 
financially incentivise districts to carry out recycling collections. The 
proposals were:

 To cease paying Recycling Credits for materials for which 
provision has been made within the Waste Disposal Contract.

 To re-charge each Waste collection Authority the cost 
associated with disposing of contamination of non- targeted 
materials within their dry mixed recycling deliveries.

 To retain the income derived from the sale of dry mixed 

Agenda Item 6



1.3

recyclable materials once processed.

The cessation of Recycling Credit payments, from April 2021 is 
applicable, the other elements above have not been implemented at 
this time but HCC reserves their right to bring these proposals 
forward should an agreement with districts in the PI partnership not 
be forthcoming. The cost to Gosport Borough Council as a result of 
the recycling credits being withdrawn will amount to £50,181.00 
(2019/20 income). If County were to bring all 3 proposals forward 
income lost would amount to £228,519.00 (2019/20 income). 

2 Report

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

As a result of Hampshire County Council savings and proposals it 
has become clear that GBC need to review their current waste and 
recycling policy, to reduce waste and increase recycling.

Hampshire County Council (HCC), as a Waste Disposal Authority 
(WDA), has a statutory duty for the disposal of municipal waste 
arising in Hampshire. Gosport Borough Council as a Waste 
Collection Authority (WCA) has a statutory duty to collect waste from 
its residents. 

In October 2013 Gosport Borough Councils Waste and Recycling 
Policy was approved by the Community Board providing a range of 
information on the waste collection service.

As a result of the Governments forthcoming Environmental Bill and 
its resource efficiency and waste reduction targets the Resources 
and Waste Strategy for England sets out a path to drive forward 
improvements for waste and recycling. This will have an impact on 
our collection services helping us to improve the state of our 
environment and tackle the challenges of climate change.

Hampshire County Council has secured funding where modelling for 
different recycling collection systems which will be required in light of 
the above strategy. The strategy will set out the need for improved 
quality and quantity in recycling such as separate food waste 
collections and improving recycling rates by ensuring a consistent set 
of recyclable materials are collected from all households. The 
modelling will provide authorities with a view of what their services 
may look like in anticipation to Government direction. At this stage 
Hampshire's waste collection and disposal authorities can drive 
forward with the desired direction and that proposed in the council's 
waste and recycling policy.

The success of waste collection arrangements relies upon 
householders properly separating recyclable and residual waste and 
placing that waste in the wheeled bins or sacks provided by the 
Council. 



2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

2.11

StreetScene are initiating a performance indicator whereby the 
council’s contractor will assist to identify those residents that 
contaminate recycling collections and help drive forward our 
requirement for good quality recyclables being presented for 
processing. 

The policy sets out our obligations and a number of requirements 
expected of Gosport’s residents. Requirements such as placing 
stipulated materials in the appropriate bin or sack, placing bins or 
sacks at the designated collection point and ensuring all waste is 
contained within the supplied waste receptacles. 

A measured and balanced approach, where householders are not 
penalised for minor breaches of waste bin requirements would be 
adopted. The use of any penalties should focus on those who cause 
genuine harm to the local environment and we would inform the 
household about any issues on their approach to waste and recycling 
collections.

StreetScene Officers will educate residents on the waste and 
recycling requirements prior to any Enforcement action, the latter 
only being taken should residents continue to ignore guidance and 
the requirements of the policy.

Section 46 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA) 
empowers a waste collection authority to require residents to place 
household waste out for collection in designated containers and 
separated into specified waste streams. In so doing it can stipulate:

 The size and type of collection receptacle(s)
 Where the receptacle(s) must be placed for the purpose of 

collecting and emptying
 The materials or items which may or may not be placed within 

the receptacle(s)

Currently, refuse and recycling bins are provided free of charge at a 
considerable cost to the council. Following a benchmarking exercise 
it was found that GBC are in a small minority of borough’s that 
provide free wheeled bins. At present bins are provided free of 
charge: 

 To developers and new build properties.
 To residents reporting their bin as stolen.
 To residents when bins are damaged as a result of collection 

operations.
 Replacements of lids and wheels are also provided free of 

charge.



2.12

2.13

It is apparent that a number of residents do not understand their 
responsibilities and take reasonable steps to provide safe storage of 
wheeled bins with many left outside of the confines of properties and 
left insecure on the public highway or council land.

The proposal is that residents and developers are charged for 
wheeled bins in any event unless the council or its contractor is 
proved to have caused the damage or loss. Residents requesting 
damaged bin repairs including replacement lids and wheels shall 
continue to receive this service free of charge.

3 Risk Assessment

3.1 Financial - HCC confirmed (from April 2021) and proposed savings 
described in 1.3 above. 

Future legislation - The Environment Bill has not yet received Royal 
Assent and many aspects are still subject to further consultation and 
secondary legislation in 2021-22 with operational arrangements and 
financial mechanisms to cover future arrangements still unknown. 

4 Conclusion

4.1

4.2

The Council and Gosport’s residents must do all they can to reduce 
waste and increase recycling, embracing the forthcoming 
Environmental Bill and its resource efficiency and waste reduction 
targets. 

Aware of the HCC’s savings proposals and the loss of income to the 
Borough we should continue to educate but also enable Streetscene 
Enforcement Officers to use their statutory powers whereby residents 
persistently flout the Waste and Recycling Policy requirements.

Financial Services comments: Contained within report
Legal Services comments: No comment
Climate Change: N/A
Crime and Disorder: N/A
Equality and Diversity: All households within the borough will be 

subject to the Policy.
Service Improvement Plan 
implications:

N/A

Corporate Plan: This delivers against three key areas within 
the corporate plan:

 Raise Aspirations
 Empower Residents
 Deliver Effective Services



Risk Assessment: As set out in paragraph 3 of the report.
Background papers: None.
Appendices/Enclosures: Appendix A

Appendix ‘A’ Waste and Recycling Policy
Appendix ‘B’ Equalities Impact Assessment

Report author/ Lead Officer: Alan Wheeler, Environmental Services 
Manager (5623)



This page is intentionally left blank



Contents:

Introduction
Receptacles for Household Waste
Household Waste Collections
Storage of Receptacles for Household Waste
Types of Waste
Green Garden Waste
Clinical Waste
Collections from Premises Occupied by Charities
Special Household Waste Collections
Chargeable Bulky Household Waste Collections
Trade and Commercial Waste

ID SENV01

Last Review Date 2013

Next Review Date 2025

Approval

Owner Streetscene

Author A. Wheeler

Advice & 
Guidance Contact Streetscene

Location GBC Website

Related 
Documents Equalities Impact Assessment

Scope This policy applies to all residents. 

WASTE AND RECYCLING 
COLLECTION POLICY



[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION POLICY

Gosport Borough Council’s Waste and Recycling Collection Policy aims to ensure 
that refuse and recycling services operate effectively and efficiently in order to 
maximise recycling and reduce the amount of waste sent for treatment and disposal. 
The Council is classed as a Waste Collection Authority and as such under a duty to 
arrange the collection of household waste from properties in its area.1 Section 46 of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA) empowers a waste collection authority 
to require residents to place household waste out for collection in designated 
containers and separated into specified waste streams. In so doing it can stipulate:

 The size and type of collection receptacle(s)
 Where the receptacle(s) must be placed for the purpose of collecting and 

emptying
 The materials or items which may or may not be placed within the 

receptacle(s)

A failure to meet these requirements can make a householder liable on conviction for 
a fine of up to £1,000 or any offence may also be discharged through a fixed penalty 
process.

The Council is also under a duty to provide a kerbside or near door entry system for 
the separate collection of recyclable materials.2

Not all waste from residential properties is classified as household waste. The 
Council may charge for the collection of certain types of waste from households.3

The Council’s requirements and arrangements for discharging their duties are set out 
in this Waste and Recycling Collection Policy.

1  The Environmental Protection Act 1990, Section 45 
2  The Household Waste Recycling Act 2003
3  The Controlled Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2012



[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

1. RECEPTACLES FOR HOUSEHOLD WASTE

1.1 The Council requires that all household waste is placed in receptacles provided 
by them which will be either wheeled bins (individual or communal) or sacks 
(black or clear).

Wheeled Bins

1.2 The Council will provide each property, where this is appropriate, with one 
wheeled bin for non- recyclable household waste (black body and black lid) and 
one wheeled bin for dry recyclable household waste (black body and green lid). 
The Council will determine the size of wheeled bins provided and generally 
these will be of 240 litre capacity. A charge per wheeled bin and communal bin 
is payable before the bin is delivered. Details of the charge payable may be 
found in the Council’s Fees and Charges Book.

1.3 Residents are permitted one refuse bin per property unless qualifying for extra 
capacity as a larger household or have exceptional circumstances. Additional 
bins will be marked with a branded sticker to identify them as being permitted 
by the Council.

1.4 The Council may provide properties with a resident in full time residence who 
requires additional capacity for healthcare waste with additional wheeled bins 
upon request. The Council will require written notification upon any request 
from a Healthcare Professional. Additional bins will be marked with a branded 
sticker to identify them as being permitted by the Council.

1.5 Additional refuse and recycling wheeled bin capacity are subject to the Council 
being satisfied that service provision is warranted following approval for the 
request by the Council. A charge is applicable for additional bins.

1.6 Multi dwelling premises such as flats and housing complexes will be provided 
with wheeled bins in numbers that the Council determines will make available 
sufficient storage capacity for household waste and recycling streams, based 
on the volume calculated at 240 litres per dwelling. These may be individual 
wheeled bins or communal bins.

1.7 All non- recyclable household waste and dry recyclable household waste must 
be placed in the wheeled bin provided by the Council for that type of household 
waste. Any household waste not placed in a wheeled bin provided by the 
Council will not be collected by the Councils waste collection Contractor (‘the 
Contractor’) and may be treated as Fly-Tipping. 
Any wheeled bin that cannot be safely placed on the lifting mechanism of the 
collection vehicle due to its weight will not be emptied. 

1.8 The wheeled bins provided by the Council will be delivered to the property by 
the Contractor and must remain at that property. The wheeled bins will have a 
sticker on them identifying the property number it is supplied for. The wheeled 
bins provided by the Council must remain at the property at all times and 
remain the property of the Council.



[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

1.9 The Council is not responsible for lost, stolen/removed from a property, 
damaged or destruction of a wheeled bin or communal bin unless the Council 
or the Contractor is proved to have accidently, wilfully or negligently caused the 
loss, removal, damage or destruction. In these circumstances the replacement 
wheeled bins or communal bin will be provided free of charge.

Sacks

1.10 Where the Council determines that a property does not have storage space 
available within its boundary to house wheeled bins the Council will provide the 
property with plastic sacks with the Council’s name on them. Non-recyclable 
household waste must be placed in the black sacks provided by the Council 
and dry recyclable household waste placed in the clear sacks provided by the 
Council.

1.11 The Council will only collect a maximum of 2 sacks each week and these sacks 
must be those provided by the Council. Each property will receive 52 black 
sacks and 52 clear sacks each year. If more than 2 sacks of household waste 
are placed for collection or any of the household waste is not placed in a sack 
provided by the Council they will not be collected. Any sack which weighs more 
than 13 kg will not be collected. A sticker or tag will be placed on any sack 
which is overweight. 

1.12 Replacement sacks can be purchased from the Town Hall in rolls of 10 sacks 
as defined in the Council’s Fees and Charges Book. 

2. HOUSEHOLD WASTE COLLECTIONS

Frequency

2.1 Household waste from all properties excluding some flatted developments is 
collected each week with non- recyclable household waste collected one week 
and dry recyclable household waste collected the following week. This is known 
as an alternate weekly collection. Each year there will be 26 collections for non 
-recyclable and 26 collections for dry recyclable household waste.

2.2 In some flatted developments there is insufficient space to accommodate the 
necessary number of wheeled bins for dry recyclable household waste so a 
different collection frequency is provided by the Council which generally 
involves replacing one of the collections for non-recyclable household waste 
with a collection of dry recyclable household waste. 

Collection Locations

2.3 Wheeled bins or plastic sacks provided by the Council will only be collected if 
they are placed on the curtilage of the property at the point nearest to the 
carriageway or at a collection point determined by Council, where this is the 
nearest point to the carriageway, which will be notified to occupiers.

Timing 



[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

2.4 Collections of household waste may be made at any time between the hours of 
7am – 5pm Monday to Friday and collections for a property are made on the 
same day each week save where special arrangements are necessary for Bank 
Holidays. Where this is necessary occupiers will be advised in advance and 
these special arrangements may involve a collection on a Saturday between 
the hours of 7am – 5pm.

2.5 Wheeled bins or sacks provide by the Council must not be placed out for 
collection at the collection location prior to the evening before the scheduled 
collection day and must be placed at the collection location no later than 7am 
on the scheduled collection day. Household waste found to be stored on the 
public highway will be investigated by the Council as fly tipping

Missed Collections

2.6 The Council defines a missed collection as a wheeled bin or sack which 
remains full after the collection vehicle has passed along the road emptying 
neighbouring properties wheeled bins or collecting sacks and where the 
Contractor has not identified that there is a specific reason such as the 
receptacle being too heavy for it not being collected. Half emptied wheeled bins 
are also treated as missed collections.  This may occur when household waste 
has been compacted into the wheeled bin and in these circumstances the 
occupier should loosen the household waste and then contact the Council.

2.7 The Contractor will return and collect the missed wheeled bin or sack within 3 
working days of notification.

Assistance with Collections

2.8 If Occupiers are unable to manoeuvre a wheeled bin then the Council may be 
able to arrange for assistance to be provided. 

2.9 An application for assistance must be made in writing and include the 
following;-

a. The reasons why the Occupier needs assistance and where this is due to 
mobility or medical issues this should be set out in a letter from the Occupiers 
Doctor; 

b. Confirmation that there is no one else living at the property who is able to 
manoeuvre the wheeled bin;

c. An acknowledgment that the Council and Contractor are not liable for any 
damage or loss caused as a result of a collection vehicle or Contractor coming 
onto the property whilst providing the assistance;

d. An indemnity that in the event that the Council will provide assistance the 
Occupier agrees to indemnify the Council for any damage or loss caused as a 
result of a collection vehicle a Council officer or the Contractor coming onto the 
property whilst providing the assistance.



[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

2.10 The Head of StreetScene will consider and determine any application for 
assistance on the basis of the information provided in the application and what 
assistance it is reasonable and practical to provide.

2.11 Where assistance is provided the Occupier will be notified of the arrangements 
for collection.

3. STORAGE OF RECEPTACLES FOR HOUSEHOLD WASTE

Storage of Household Waste Receptacles between collections

3.1 Household waste whether placed in a receptacle provided by the Council or 
otherwise must be stored on private property between collection days.  Storage 
is NOT permitted on the public highway. If an occupier continues to store 
household waste receptacles on the public highway a section 46 notice in 
writing may be issued.

 Storage Areas

3.2 All new buildings or buildings being altered or adapted must provide sufficient 
storage space for the number of household waste receptacles necessary for 
the number of dwellings being created. The Council will provide developers with 
details of their requirements.

3.3 Occupiers of existing buildings are responsible for providing adequate storage 
areas for household waste receptacles and should be prepared to provide 
additional storage facilities if the need arises.

Access to Storage Areas for Wheeled Bins

3.4 The Contractor must be provided with clear access from the collection vehicle 
to where they collect the wheeled bins. Level access is required including 
dropped kerbs. In communal bin storage areas a clear access and egress route 
must be provided to enable the Contractor to manoeuvre the bins from the 
storage area to the collection vehicle. Where waste or other materials are 
placed in the storage area or on top of the wheeled bins so that a clear access 
and egress route is not available the wheeled bins will not be emptied and the 
Council will notify the person managing the storage area.

4. TYPES OF WASTE

Waste which will not be collected as part of the alternate weekly 
collections 

4.1 The following must not be placed in the receptacles provided by the Council 
and will not be collected as part of the Alternate weekly collections of 
Household Waste:-



[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

 Asbestos*
 Commercial or industrial waste
 Brick rubble, soil and construction materials*
 Domestic appliances and electrical/electronic equipment#
 Fixtures and fittings, i.e. carpets, shelving units, cupboards etc.#
 Green  Garden Waste# and soil
 Hot ashes
 Medication
 Clinical waste deemed as infectious#
 Oil* and flammable liquids
 Paints and chemicals*
 Scrap metals*

# these materials can be collected as part of other waste collection services 
offered by Gosport Borough Council.  Further information can be obtained by 
contacting the Council on 08000 198598 or visiting www.gosport.gov.uk. If the 
occupier continues to place the above waste in the household waste bin a 
section 46 notice in writing may be issued

*These items may be disposed of at the Household Waste Recycling Centre, 
for details of acceptable items please refer to http://www3.hants.gov.uk/waste-
and-recycling.htm or telephone Hampshire County Council on 0845 603 5634.

4.2 Unmarked items have to be disposed of by other licensed waste contractors.  

Dry Recyclable Household Waste

4.3 All of the following items may be placed in the dry recyclable household waste 
wheeled bin or clear sack provided by the Council and collected from properties 
as part of the alternate weekly collection:-

 Paper
 Magazines
 Envelopes (with or without windows) 
 Cereal boxes
 Newspapers 
 Catalogues
 Greeting cards
 Cardboard
 Junk mail
 All food/drink cans
 All plastic bottles.
 Aerosol cans

4.4 Any dry recyclable household waste wheeled bin (green lidded) or clear sack 
provided by the Council will not be emptied if it is found to contain waste which 
is not included in the list in 4.2 above. A red tag will be placed on the 
receptacle. The Occupier will need to ensure that the waste is removed before 
the receptacle is placed for collection on the next scheduled collection day. If 

http://www.gosport.gov.uk/
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling.htm


[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

the occupier continues to place non-recycling waste in the recyclable 
household waste bin a section 46 notice in writing may be issued.

5. Green Garden Waste

The Council’s contractor, arrange for the collection of green/garden waste. For 
more information on this service visit: 
https://gardenrecyclingscheme.co.uk/gosport-garden-recycling-scheme/

6. Clinical Waste

6.1 The Council collect clinical waste from properties where an Occupier has 
notified their Doctor and the Surgery has submitted a clinical waste referral 
form to the Council. Clinical waste includes infectious and non- infectious 
material and sharps. The referral from the Surgery will set out what type of 
clinical waste is to be collected and where the clinical waste is infectious which 
includes sharps then a clinical waste collection will be provided by the Council.

6.2 Clinical waste collections are provided free of charge and the Council will notify 
the person requesting the clinical waste collection of the day and frequency of 
collections. Clinical waste collections are from the front of properties between 
the hours of 7am – 5pm.

7 Collections from Premises occupied by Charities

7.1 The Council will collect household waste from premises occupied by charities 
where the charity is not carrying out any activities of a business or commercial 
nature.

7.2 Places of Worship will be provided with 1 x 240 litre wheeled bin for non-
recyclable household waste and 1 x 240 litre wheeled bin for dry recyclable 
household waste free of charge which will be collected as part of the alternate 
weekly collection.

8 Special Household Waste Collections

8.1 The Council will collect 5 or more bulky items or larger quantities of household 
waste or items which are not on the bulky household waste list. A charge is 
payable and the Council will provide a free estimate of the charge which is 
payable before the collection is made. 

9 Chargeable Bulky Household Waste Collections

9.1 Regulations set out what types of household waste are defined as chargeable 
bulky household items. The Council do collect such items where payment of the 
charges set out in the Council’s Fees and Charges Book is made before the 
collection.

9.2 Items to be collected must be placed at the front of the property unless an 
alternative collection is agreed by the Council, before the collection day. The 
items must not be placed on the highway. The items will be collected between 

https://gardenrecyclingscheme.co.uk/gosport-garden-recycling-scheme/


[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

7am – 5pm on the day notified for the collection. If assistance is needed to 
remove an item from within the property this must be agreed by the Council at 
the time the request is made prior to the day of collection.

10 Trade and Commercial Waste

10.1 The Council do not provide a collection service for trade or commercial waste.

10.2 The Council will investigate and take enforcement action where trade or 
commercial waste is found in household waste.



This page is intentionally left blank



1

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Screening Assessment Form 

Waste & Recycling Policy

1. Is this policy, strategy or function new ___ or an existing___ one? 

1a.  Briefly describe the reasons for developing or reviewing this?

Forthcoming changes in operations, loss of income and the councils drive to reduce waste and increase recycling. This is an update to 
the existing policy written  and approved in 2013

2a. Describe the main aim or purpose of this item? Who will it benefit? Why is it needed?

Local authorities have a statutory duty to collect household waste from its residents. The council needs to revisit its current policy as a 
result of forthcoming cuts to HCC income and drive forward with its reduce waste and increase recycling message which will benefit both 
the council, its residents and the environment. The success of waste collection arrangements relies upon householders properly 
separating recyclable and residual waste and placing that waste in the wheeled bin or sack provided by the Council. StreetScene are 
initiating a performance indicator whereby the council’s contractor will help to identify those residents that contaminate recycling 
collections and help drive forward our requirement for good quality recyclables being presented for processing.



2

3a. The Public Sector Equality Duty is part of the Equality Act 2010. The Duty requires the Council to have due regard to the 
following three aims:  

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation;
 advance equal opportunities between people from different groups
 foster good relations between people from different groups.  

Having due regard means considering how this policy, strategy or function has or will advance equal opportunities for each of 
the protected groups below.   



3

3b  Identify how this item demonstrates due regard to the three aims above  for each of the protected groups below. 
 (For marriage and civil partnership, legislation requires  you only need to demonstrate how you would eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation)
Protected characteristic This item demonstrates due regard by:

Describe how it furthers equal opportunities. 
You can cite examples of  any disadvantage 
this item removes or minimises,  how it 
meets the specific needs of any groups, how 
it encourages participation, promotes 
understanding or integration between 
groups    

Describe any negative impact 
or potentially negative impact 
of this item for any group.  For 
any negative impact identified, 
describe actions already taken to 
address it. Any planned actions 
must be identified in section 4. 

  List data sources/ evidence 
used to assess impact and 
whether this item furthers the 
aims of the Equality Duty. Insert 
links to data used where possible

Age
Disability
Gender 
reassignment
Marriage and Civil 
Partnership

Waste services are universally provided to 
all households of Gosport. 

Pregnancy 
and Maternity
Race (ethnic or  
national origin, 
colour, nationality)
Religion or Belief 
(and lack of belief)
Sex

Waste services are universally provided to 
all households of Gosport.

.

There is the potential for older 
people, those with a disability or 
other healthcare needs to find it 
harder to lift the lids or move 
refuse or recycling containers. 

The policy sets out the Council’s 
obligations and requirements 
expected of residents. 
Requirements such as placing 
stipulated materials in the 
appropriate bin or sack, placing 
bins or sacks at the designated 
collection point and ensuring all 
waste is contained in the waste 
receptacle. Communication of 
these requirements and potential 
consequences for non-
compliance will be done in 
accordance with the Council’s 
Accessible Communications 



4

Sexual Orientation Guidance.

We would take a measured and 
balanced approach, where 
householders are not penalised 
for minor breaches of waste bin 
requirements. The use of any 
penalties should focus on those 
who cause genuine harm to the 
local environment. We would 
inform the household about any 
issues on their approach to waste 
and recycling collections.

StreetScene officers will educate 
residents on the waste and 
recycling requirements prior any 
enforcement action, the latter only 
being taken if residents continue 
to ignore guidance and the 
requirements of the policy   

Assistance is given to those 
residents who require additional 
capacity due to age, disability or 
any other healthcare reasons to 
help moving bins to facilitate 
collections. Assistance is 
available to those residents who 
are unable to manoeuvre bins 



5

due to mobility or medical 
reasons with no able-bodied 
resident living at the address. 
Those residents requiring 
additional capacity for healthcare 
waste can also be assisted.
 Reasons for an assisted lift or 
additional capacity need be 
notified to StreetScene by a 
Doctor or medical practitioner 
whereby assistance or additional 
capacity can be provided. The 
head of StreetScene will consider 
and determine requests on the 
basis of the information given and 
what assistance is reasonable 
and practical to provide.

3c. Are there any other groups in addition to those above which could be impacted (e.g. socially or financially excluded) 
by this item?
Please   ___yes   ___ no



6

Group This item demonstrates due regard by:
 

Describe any negative impact or potentially 
negative impact of this item for any group

List data sources/ evidence 
used to assess impact and 
whether this item furthers 
the aims of the Equality 
Duty

Low income 
households

Currently, refuse and recycling bins are provided 
free of charge at a considerable cost to the council. 
Following a benchmarking exercise it was found 
that GBC is in a small minority of borough’s in 
Hampshire that provide free wheeled bins. At 
present bins are provided free of charge: 

To developers and new build properties

To residents reporting their bin as stolen

To residents when bins are damaged as a result of 
collection operations

Lid and wheel replacements are also provided free 
of charge

Records show a number of residents do not  
take reasonable steps to provide safe storage 
of wheeled bins with many left outside of the 
confines of properties and left insecure on 
public highway or council land.

The proposal is that residents and developers 
are charged for lost wheeled bins unless the 
Council or its contractor is proved to have 
caused the damage or loss.  

Residents requesting minor damaged bin 
repairs such as replacement wheels and lids 
will continue to receive this service free of 
charge.

        

The Council’s general 
waste bin costs are the 
lowest in Hampshire and its 
charge for recycling bins 
are among the lowest, with 
only 2 other authorities 
charging less.
Communications to 
households will include 
information about the new 
charge for lost bins and 
reminders to take 
responsibility to ensure the 
proper storage and security 
of their bins to avoid 
damage or loss. 

4. Please Identify any further actions you will take resulting from this assessment. 
Action Officer Responsible Completion date
Provide sufficient notice  and employ widely 
accessible communication methods to inform 
residents of the changes in the waste and 
recycling collection 

StreetScene Waste Management Team Spring 2021

Record and evaluate customer feedback / 
complaints and evaluate if any changes are 
needed to ensure a fair and equitable service for 
all households.

StreetScene  Waste Management Team Annually 

Monitor contractor feedback/ performance and 
evaluate for any changes needed 

StreetScene  Waste Management Team Monthly



7

5. Do you have any additional comments? If so, please add.

6. Date of screening 7-12-20 Officer(s) completing assessment 
Alan Wheeler

Section Date Approved 
7-12-20

7. Name of Section Head

Stevyn Ricketts

Date review completed. 

8. Date submitted to E&D Lead Officer
 7-12-20

Date E & D review completed  9-12-20

E&D Lead Officer Recommendation:

 This assessment form is incomplete and requires additional information for its review by EDSG.
_________________________________________________________________________________

This assessment has been successfully reviewed  with the following outcome:

      No major change – The assessment of this policy/strategy/function shows no potential for discrimination and the aims of
         the Equality Duty have been met.

 Adjust the policy/strategy or function – This item will meet the aims of the Equality Duty if actions identified in Sections 3 and 4 to 
remove barriers or to better advance equality are implemented.

      Continue the policy/strategy/function – There is some potential for adverse impact or missed opportunities to promote equality, 
          but no unlawful discrimination has been identified. Ensure effective  monitoring is in place to regularly assess the actual  
          impact on different groups and carry out the actions identified in Sections 3 and 4 to remove barriers or to better advance equality.   

      Stop and Rethink – Adverse equality impacts have been identified/ may not be justified and have not been sufficiently mitigated.  



8

         Unlawful discrimination could be taking place. Do not adopt or continue until a full equality investigation has been completed.
          



Board/Committee: Community Board 
Date of meeting: 10th February 2021
Title: Manor Way Open Space
Author: Head of Streetscene
Status: FOR DECISION

Purpose

To seek approval to carry out a public consultation regarding the proposed design 
for the open space at Manor Way, Lee-on-the-Solent to provide a rest garden and 
allotments. To ascertain whether the design meets the expectations of the 
community.

Recommendation: 

That the Board authorises the Head of Streetscene to undertake a public 
consultation. 

1 Background

1.1 At the meeting of the economic development board held on the 16th 
September 2015 members approved the acquisition of the land at 
Manor Way, Lee-on-the-Solent.

1.2 A survey was carried out in August 2018 where participants were asked 
about the usage of the areas and the facilities that might be on site 
within the proposed allotment space and rest garden.  The survey 
showed from the 145 responses received that they had an interest in 
having both allotment space and a community rest garden.

2. Report

2.1 The Land at Manor Way, Lee-on-the-Solent is designated within the 
Local Plan as community use (Appendix A).

2.2 It is proposed to create a rest garden to the front of the site with 
allotments on the remainder with the associated infrastructure, as 
shown in Appendix B. 

2.3

2.4

The Council look to undertake a further public consultation to seek 
resident’s views on the proportional use of the space and to ascertain 
whether the proposed design is well balanced to cater for the local and 
the wider community across the Borough.

The consultation process will be available for 6 weeks and made 
available on the council’s website for completion and submission. It will 

Agenda Item 7



also be advertised on the council’s social media platforms with a link to 
the website.

3 Risk Assessment

3.1

3.2

The Council is required to maintain the land until such time the use of 
the land is agreed.

There are currently 1,013 residents waiting for an allotment plot, 147 of 
which are on the Lee-on-the-Solent waiting list which demonstrates the 
demand for allotments.

4. Conclusion

4.1 A further report will be presented to the Community Board following the 
public consultation.

Financial Services comments: No Comment
Legal Services comments: No comment

Climate Change: By encouraging consumption of locally grown 
food by residents, this contributes to the target   
in the Climate Change Strategy to encourage 
residents and businesses to support and adopt    
measures towards the goal of carbon neutrality.

Crime and Disorder: No impact and crime has been designed out as 
much as possible.

Equality and Diversity: The consultation must be widely communicated 
and accessible to those with protected 
characteristics ensure diverse views are 
represented and considered for this land design 
and use. 

Service Improvement Plan 
implications:

N/A

Corporate Plan: This meets the following priorities within the 
Council ‘Plan on a Page’

 Enhance the Environment
 Empower our Residents
 Deliver Effective Services

Risk Assessment: Please refer to paragraph 3 of the report.

Background papers: None.
Appendices/Enclosures: Appendix A

Appendix B
Appendix C

Appendix A Local Plan designated area.
Appendix B Manor Way proposed layout.
Appendix C Survey Questions.



Report author/ Lead Officer: Diane Dobinson (5497)

Appendix A:

Area designated within the Local Plan



Appendix B: 

MANOR WAY PROPOSED LAYOUT FOR REST GARDEN & 
ALLOTMENTS



Appendix C:

Manor Way Lee on the Solent - Rest Gardens & Allotment Site 
Consultation



Gosport Borough Council seeks the communities view on the size of the 
proposed rest gardens and allotment site that is to be located in Manor Way, 
Lee-on-the-Solent.

There will be a public rest gardens to the front of the site and allotments to the 
rear. Gosport Borough Council wish to ascertain in what proportions the 
community would like that to be.

The design below gives an indication of what the area might look like and is 
64/36 percentage split between allotment use and rest garden.

Rest Garden & Allotment Site Design 

The public open space is designed to be a peaceful area of reflection with 
level pathways, seating area and sympathetic, naturalised planting.  The land 
to the rear of the public open space will be partitioned off by planting that will 
screen the allotment parking area, utilities block and allotments.

The allotment site is designed so that the best use of land can be achieved. 
Please complete this short survey; your views are important to Gosport 
Borough Council.  

Gosport Borough Council is committed to promoting equality of opportunity 
and respect for diversity in the services we provide. 

1. Allotments, Rest Garden: Please choose which proportion you would 
prefer to see.



Please select one option 

 Allotments 60% Rest Garden 40%
 Allotments 70% Rest Garden 30%
 Allotments 80% Rest Garden 20%

2. Is the split you would like to see represented?

 Yes
 No

If no suggested split _________________________________________

3. Comments

Text limited to 100 words

Questions 4 to 11 are to help us further understand how a rest garden and 
allotment site would impact different groups of people.  It is not compulsory to 
answer the questions, however providing this information will help us to 
monitor how effectively we are talking to a range of people right across the 
communities we serve.

Note: If you are answering on behalf of a community group or organisation, 
then you don’t need to complete this next section. 

All information is held in accordance with the Data Protection Act.
 
4. Are you…? Please select one option 
 Male 
 Female 
 Other __________________________

5. Is your gender identity the same as you were assigned at birth? 
Please select one option 
Yes 
No 

6. What is your age? Please select one 
option 

 Below 16 
16 - 24 
 25 - 34 
 35 - 44 
 45 - 54 
 55 - 64 
 65 - 74 
 75 - 84 



 85 or over 

7. How would you describe yourself? 
Please select one option 
 Heterosexual or straight 
 Bisexual 
 Lesbian 
 Gay Man 
 Prefer not to say 

8. Do you consider yourself to have a disability, or a long-term illness, 
physical or mental health condition? Please select one option 
 Yes 
 No (go to q 7) 

9. What is the nature of your disability, long-term limiting condition or 
health problem? Please select all that apply
 Physical disability
 Hearing disability
 Learning disability
 Visual disability
 Mental ill health
 Other (please state)_________________________________
 Prefer not to say 

10. Which group do you most identify with?  Please select one option.
 None 
 Christian 
 Muslim 
 Jewish 
 Sikh 
 Buddhist 
 Hindu 
 Other religion 
 Prefer not to say 

11. To which of these groups do you consider you belong? 
Please select one option

White 
 English/ Welsh/ Scottish/ Northern Irish/ British 
 Irish 
 Gypsy or Irish Traveller 
 Eastern European 
 Other White background (please describe) 
________________________



Black / African / Caribbean / Black British 
 African 
 Caribbean 
 Any other Black / African / Caribbean background (please 
describe) _______________________________________

Asian / Asian British 
 Indian 
 Pakistani 
 Bangladeshi 
 Chinese 
 Any other Asian background (please 

Mixed / multiple ethnic group 
 White and Black Caribbean 
 White and Black African 
 White and Asian 
 Any other mixed / multiple ethnic background (please describe) 

Other ethnic group 
 Arab 
 Any other ethnic group (please describe) 

 Prefer not to say

12. Do you have a connection to the Armed Forces?
 Yes
 No

13. If you do have a connection to the Armed Forces, please choose 
which option best described that connection.

 serving member of the armed forces
 family member of someone currently serving
 veteran
 family member of a veteran 
 other (please describe)_________________________________________ 
 Prefer not to say



This page is intentionally left blank



Board/Committee: Community Board
Date of Meeting: 10 February 2021
Title: Public Consultation and Review for the Extension of 

Hardway PSPO
Author: Borough Solicitor and Monitoring Officer
Status: FOR DECISION

Purpose

To inform the Community Board that the Hardway Public Spaces Protection 
Order (Hardway PSPO) is due to expire on 07 March 2021.  

This report seeks to inform the Board as to whether the Hardway PSPO is an 
effective way to tackle Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) and the problem of young 
people engaging in ASB at the Hardway Memorial Green (the Green) during 
the summer months.  

This report further seeks the approval of the Board to publish the intention to 
extend the Hardway PSPO for a further three years subject to the outcome of 
the review exercise which will inform the decision.  

Recommendation

A. The Community Board notes that the current PSPO expires on 07 March 
2021.  The provisions of the Hardway PSPO are in force between 01 April and 
30 October of any year. (Appendix 1):

B. The Community Board shall at its meeting on 10 February 2021 formally 
commence the review process and at the next scheduled meeting on 03 
March 2021 have regard to the outcome of the review process and 
consultation responses to make an informed final decision as to whether it is 
appropriate and proportionate to extend the Hardway PSPO.
 

1 Background

1.1 Hardway Memorial Green is situated off Priory Road, Gosport and 
includes a small grassed area adjacent to a public slipway and public 
car park (the “Green”). The Green is owned by the Council and 
accessible by the public. There is a memorial to the D-Day landings 
situated on the Green and benches are installed around the 
perimeter.

1.2 On 29th August 2017 a petition signed by over 360 people was 
received from the Hardway Residents Action Group (HRAG) urging 
the Council to implement a Public Spaces Protection Order for the 
Green to address anti-social behavior.  

Agenda Item 8



1.3 The reasons given by the HRAG for the petition were as follows:

 Local residents and users of the Green have suffered many 
years of anti-social behaviour (ASB) from young people 
congregating at the Green during the summer. 

 The ASB from the summer of 2017 specific to a large group of 
young people included:-

 Foul and obscene language
 Motorbikes/mopeds riding on footpaths and the green
 Littering 
 Trespass
 Damage to property
 Intimidation
 Verbal Abuse
 Assault
 Drug related issues

 The ASB was a having detrimental effect on the quality of life of 
those in the locality, and these are likely to continue, albeit 
seasonally.

 The previous response by the Police and Council to address 
the ASB had not been effective. 

 It was proposed that the PSPO would break the cycle of this 
annual problem, return this public area to the community and 
bring an end to the summer misery of local residents.  It will 
force the authorities to focus on the problems in this area and 
seek a permanent resolution. 

1.4 Following consultations, meetings, and feedback from surveys, 
including those undertaking by the HRAG, it was clear from the 
number of residents who had expressed their views, either at the 
various meetings and/or by responding to the HRAG impact survey, 
that ASB on the Green was a real problem for the community in the 
summer months. 

1.5 Accordingly the Community Board was satisfied upon reasonable 
grounds that, notwithstanding the intervention measures and existing 
enforcement regime that the implementation of the Hardway PSPO 
was justified in order to effectively tackle the ASB.  As a result in April 
2017 the Hardway PSPO was made (Appendix 1)

1.6 The issues in the Hardway area have long been known to stem from 
those that are too young to be prosecuted or fined by the Council and 
therefore do not fall within the powers afforded by a PSPO.  As such 



the impact and use of the Hardway PSPO as a resource is limited.  
There is no evidence that the Hardway PSPO does not act as a 
deterrent.  However, there is evidence that despite the Hardway 
PSPO the behaviour has continued.

2 Existing and Planned Response to the ASB

Intervention
2.1

2.2

There are regular Police and Council Streetscene patrols to the 
Green, which are intensified in the summer months.  The Police have 
engaged in targeted partnership work to increase community 
engagement in the area.  There are focused Police and Streetscene 
patrols at peak times, and Streetscene are involved in meetings 
organised by HRAG. 

The Council will continue to utilise detached youth services during 
the summer in Hardway to engage with the young people in relation 
to noise, litter, language, water safety.

2.3                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  If young people are identified as being involved in multiple ASB 
incidents then a staged approached is undertaken starting with an 
ASB warning letter sent to parents informing them that failure to stop 
engaging in this behaviour could result in a referral to the Partnership 
Action Group and other intervention tools, where appropriate, being 
considered

Alcohol Related ASB
2.4 The Police have the power to seize alcohol from underage drinkers. 

Other alcohol related anti-social behaviour can be dealt with under 
the Gosport and Town Centre PSPO 2020.

Litter
2.5 The dropping of litter amounts to a criminal offence. The Council will 

arrange for litter dropped on the Green to be removed as and when 
necessary.

Criminal Law
2.6 The Police will investigate public order offences, drug offences, 

criminal damage etc. If convicted, the Police may seek a criminal 
behaviour order. However criminal proceedings are not a quick 
process.   The response from Inspector Matthew Wake  reports a 
non-exhaustive list of legislation that is available to the Police 
(Appendix 3).

Dispersal Order
2.7 Section 35 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

provides the Police with powers to disperse individuals for up to 48 
hours in order to remove or reduce the likelihood of a person 
committing or likely to commit ASB, crime or disorder in a particular 
area. A Police Officer of Inspector rank or above must authorise in 



writing the use of this dispersal power.  This was utilised by the 
Police last year over the course of the summer bank holiday to good 
effect

Anti-social Behaviour Injunctions
2.8 If there is persistent ASB by individuals, the Council or Police may, 

subject to the legal threshold being met and if it is proportionate, 
apply for an injunction with conditions excluding the individual from 
the geographical area where the behaviour has occurred.  

Overview of Public Space Protection Orders
2.9 The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the Act) 

introduced several new tools and powers for use by Councils and 
their partners to address ASB in their local areas. Public Spaces 
Protection Orders (PSPO) are one of the tools available under the 
Act.

2.10 The Act gives Councils the authority to draft and implement PSPOs 
in response to the particular issues affecting their communities, 
provided that certain criteria and legal tests are met.

2.11 Councils can use PSPOs to prohibit specified activities, and/or 
require certain things to be done by people engaged in particular 
activities, within a defined public area which apply to everyone in that 
locality (with the possible use of exemptions). 

2.12 Breach of a PSPO, without a reasonable excuse, is a criminal 
offence. The maximum penalty on conviction is a fine not exceeding 
£1,000.  A fixed penalty of £100 within 14 days (or £50 in 7 days) can 
be offered as an alternative to prosecution, which if paid in full 
discharges a person’s liability to criminal proceedings.

2.13 PSPOs are aimed at ensuring public spaces can be enjoyed free 
from anti-social behaviour. 

2.14 A PSPO can last for up to three years, after which it must be 
reviewed. If the review supports an extension and other requirements 
are satisfied, it may be extended for up to a further three years. 
There is no limit on the number of times a PSPO may be reviewed 
and renewed.

2.15 The Act sets out a number of additional requirements for consultation 
and communication before an Order is introduced, once it is 
implemented and where it is extended, varied or discharged. PSPOs 
can be legally challenged under the Act on certain grounds.

2.16 Under Section 60 of the Act, before a PSPO is extended the Local 
Authority must be satisfied on reasonable grounds that doing so is 
necessary to prevent the occurrence or recurrence after that time of 
the activities identified in the order, or an increase in the frequency or 



seriousness of those activities after that time. 

3 Home Office Guidance

3.1 The Home Office has published statutory guidance on the use of the 
ASB powers available under the Act (the Guidance).
 

3.2 The Guidance states a PSPO will not be suitable or effective in all 
circumstances, and it is important to consider carefully the right 
approach for identifying and addressing the problem behaviour. 
Other options should actively be considered before a PSPO is 
pursued and, where a PSPO is used, it should be carefully framed 
and employed alongside other approaches as part of a broad and 
balanced anti-social behaviour strategy.

3.3 The Guidance stresses that although the Act's primary focus is the 
impact of the ASB on the victim or victims, local authorities are also 
directed to consider to the interests of those against whom the Act's 
powers are used.  

3.4 When considering whether to make a PSPO, the Community Board 
must have regard to the right of the community to enjoy the public 
space without ASB and also the interests of individuals and groups 
who may be affected by the restrictions imposed. The proximity of 
other more suitable public spaces with pitches and the larger 
recreation areas may be a relevant factor for consideration. 

3.5 It is therefore important that the restrictions of any PSPO are framed 
in a way that does not prevent young people using the Green to 
associate providing that they do not engage in anti-social behaviour. 

4. Review Exercise:
Publication & Consultation

4.1 If the Community Board considers that the extension of the draft 
PSPO may continue to be a proportionate response to the ASB the 
Council must publish the intention to extend.   It is good practice to 
allow a period of consultation so as to ensure an effective review of 
the PSPO and engage with consultees such as the Police, Highway 
Authority, Local Education Authority, and other stakeholders 
including local schools and Youth Offending Team, and the public.  In 
this particular case the HRAG will also be approached for comment.

4.2 The Community Board will at its meeting on 03 March 2021 weigh up 
the evidence of ASB at the Green and the consultation responses 
and determine whether or not it is appropriate and proportionate to 
extend the Hardway PSPO.



4.3 If the Hardway PSPO is extended it would expire on 07 April 2024.

5 Risk Assessment

5.1 In order to extend the PSPO the Council must be satisfied that the 
legal threshold is met having regard to the Guidance.  An interested 
party has the right to challenge the lawfulness of a PSPO in the High 
Court.

5.2 It is important that the Council has the support of the Police and other 
partners when extending a PSPO. The Council and Police must have 
the resources available to enforce the PSPO.   

6. Conclusion

6.1 ASB is an issue at the Green in the summer months. Judging from 
the events in the summer, it continues to have a detrimental effect on 
residents.  However, it is heartening to hear from the Police that 
incidents are not as high as they had been in the past.  It is accepted 
that this may be as a consequence of the Covid 19 Pandemic.  

6.2 The Community Board must consider whether the existing Hardway 
PSPO as a response to the ASB is effective in reducing the 
detrimental impact of the activities on the quality of life of those in the 
locality. The Community Board must also consider whether there are 
other sufficient measures and enforcement tools available to 
satisfactorily deal with the ASB.

6.3 When contemplating extending the PSPO the Community Board 
must have regard to the effect that it will have on those who will be 
mostly affected by the proposed restriction as well as on those who 
are affected by the ASB

6.4 It is recommended that the Council approve the undertaking of a 
review exercise to include publication of the intention to extend the 
Hardway PSPO for a further three years.  The Community Board 
must have regard to the outcome of the review exercise when 
making a final decision as to whether or not to extend the Hardway 
PSPO with or without amendment.

Financial Services comments: Contained in the report
Legal Services comments: Contained in the report
Climate Change: N/A
Crime and Disorder: This report directly considers anti-social 

behaviour and the effectiveness of a PSPO 
in addressing this.



Equality and Diversity: An EIA was completed in 2018 for the 
initial PSPO. The Equality Duty is met if 
the review consultation is also inclusive 
and accessible and equality monitoring is 
in place to assess the actual impact on 
different groups before a decision is 
made.”

Service Improvement Plan 
implications:
Corporate Plan: Extending the PSPO for the control of ASB 

is fully consistent with and will continue to 
make a significant contribution to the 
corporate plan for the promotion of health 
and wellbeing and community safety.

Risk Assessment:
Background papers:
Appendices/Enclosures:

Appendix ‘1’ Existing Hardway PSPO
Appendix ‘2’ Proposed Hardway PSPO 2021
Appendix ‘3’ Response from Gosport Police Inspector 

Matthew Wake
Report author/ Lead Officer: Azmi Quraishe- Senior Solicitor (Litigation) 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer



This page is intentionally left blank







Section 59 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the 
“Act”)

The Borough of Gosport Hardway Public Spaces Protection Order 2021

1. Gosport Borough Council (the “Council”) having been satisfied that the conditions 
set out at section 59 of the Act are met upon the following detrimental activities 
being carried on in the Restricted Area:

1.1.1. Foul and obscene language
1.1.2. Motorbikes/mopeds riding on footpaths and the green
1.1.3. Littering 
1.1.4. Trespass
1.1.5. Damage to property
1.1.6. Intimidation
1.1.7. Verbal Abuse
1.1.8. Assault
1.1.9. Drug related issues

2. The Council hereby makes the following Public Spaces Protection Order for its 
area, which shall be in force between 1st April and 30th October in any year.

3. Interpretation
3.1. "Authorised Person" means a Council officer authorised by the chief executive 

of the Council or police constable or police community support officer, who 
must present their authority upon request;

3.2. "Public Place" means any place to which the public or any section of the public 
has access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or 
implied permission;

3.3. “Restricted Area” means any Public Place in the area shown edged black on 
the plan at Schedule 1 to this order.

4. Restrictions
4.1.Two or more persons shall not congregate in the Restricted Area and engage 

in any conduct capable of causing or likely to cause harassment, alarm or 
distress to any reasonable member of the public.

4.2.No person who an Authorised Officer has reasonable grounds to suspect is in 
breach of 4.1 shall:



4.2.1. refuse or fail to disperse from a defined Public Place in the Restricted 
Area; and

4.2.2. return to the defined Public Place in the Restricted Area within 12 hours 
of being required to disperse 

4.2.3. if required to do so by an Authorised Person.

5. Penalty 
5.1. It is an offence contrary to section 67 of the Act for a person without reasonable 

excuse to fail to comply with the restrictions in paragraphs 4.1 or 4.2 above. A 
person guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary conviction 
to a fine not exceeding £1,000.

This order shall expire on 30th October 2024.

Executed as a Deed by affixing 

the Common Seal of 

GOSPORT BOROUGH COUNCIL 
in the presence of:-



SCHEDULE 1 - PLAN



This page is intentionally left blank





Police Reform Act – Section 50 – provide name and address when engaging in ASB

Section 87 Environmental Protection Act – Littering

Section 28 Police Reform Act – Search and seizure of alcohol. Backed up by local PSPO which
bans any drinking of alcohol in public place

Section 34/35 ASB crime and policing act. (if authorised) – Dispersal orders.

As you can see from the above the police already have suitable legislation to deal with crime and
anti-social behaviour. That said I am very mindful that an authorised officer from the local
authority also have powers under the PSPO  that they would not have under the above
legislation, it should be considered whether the PSPO is a useful tool for council employees.

Much of the ASB in the Hardway area is believed to be caused by those under the age of 18,
persons this age and under cannot be subjected to a fine under the power of the PSPO. I believe
the non congregation clause is potentially controversial as it directly opposes what would be
freedom of congregation and freedom of expression. My understanding that the power to seize
alcohol (which is very useful) would remain under the borough wide PSPO ?

For your consideration and kind regards

Matt Wake
Insp 3173



Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting of the Community Board held on 4th November 2020
	6 Waste and Recycling Policy
	6 Waste and Recycling Policy Document 10.12.20
	6 Waste and Recycling EIA 09.12.20

	7 Manor Way Open Space Consultation
	8 Hardway PSPO
	8  Appendix 1 PSPO Hardway
	8  Appendix 2 PSPO Hway
	8 Appendix 3 PSPO Hardway

	11 Alverstoke & Forton Flood Defences
	11 Gosport Exhibition Booklet Low Res




